SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MAR 25 1991

DEIDRE MICHELLE HUNT

Appellant

CLERK, SURBEME COURT

Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 75,692

-vs-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT, VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

GERARD F. KEATING, P.A.

GERARD F. KEATING, ESQUIRE

Florida Bar No. 328571 318 Silver Beach Avenue Daytona Beach, FL 32118

(904)252-2501

Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

ISSUE I

HUNT'S PLEA AGREEMENT WITH THE STATE OF FLORIDA AID THE TRIAL COURT WAS A COITRACT. UNDER VARIOUS AND ALTERNATIVE CONTRACT REMEDIES AND LAWS, HUNT IS EMTITLED TO A TRIAL ON THE MERITS OR THE SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF A LIFE SEMTELICE

ISSUE I(A)

WHEN HUNT DECLARED FOUR MONTHS IN ADVANCE THAT SHE WOULD NOT TESTIFY AGAILIST CO-DEFENDANT PURSUANT TO HER PLEA AGREEMENT, SHE EFFECTIVELY CANCELLED AID RESCINDED THE PLEA AGREEMENT WHICH WAS THEREAFTER NULL AND VOID. HUNT WAS EMTITLED TO BE RESTORED TO THE STATUS QUO ANTE. I.E. TO HAVE A PLEA OF NOT GUILTY FILED AND A JURY TRIAL SET.

ISSUE I(B)

IN THE ALTERNATIVE WHEN HUHT DID IN PACT TESTIFY FOR THREE DAYS AGAINST CO-DEFENDANT IN HIS TRIAL, HUNT FULLY PERFORMED HER END OF THE BARGAIN. SHE WAS ENTITLED TO THE BENEFIT OF HER BARGAIN I.E. A SPMTENCING HEARING IN WHICH SHE COULD HAVE PRESENTED BY HITIGATION HER COMPLIANCE AND COOPERATION IN OBTAINING THE COMVICTION AND DEATH SENTENCE OF CO-DEFENDANT KOSTA POTOPOULOS.

ISSUE I(C)

THE CONTRACT EXPRESSLY PROVIDED THAT HUIT'S SENTENCING HEARING WOULD BE DEFERRED UNTIL AFTER SHE TESTIFIED AGAINST THE CO-DEFENDANT SO THAT THE TRIAL JUDGE COULD USE THE TESTIMONY IN THE CO-DEFENDANT'S TRIAL AS TESTIMONY IN HUNT'S NON JURY SENTENCING HEARING. WHEI THE TRIAL COURT CONDUCTED THE SENTENCING HEARING ONE MONTH BEFORE THE CO-DEFENDANT'S TRIAL AT THE STATE'S REQUEST THE STATE AND COURT BREACHED THE COMTRACT.

ISSUE I(D)

UNDER PROMISSORY ESTOPPEL AID EQUITABLE ESTOPPEL, IMPLIED AND QUASI COITRACT LAW HUNT RELIED ON THE OUT OF COURT REPRESENTATIOIS OF HER ATTORNEY AND OF THE ASSISTANT STATE ATTORNEY THAT SHE WOULD GET A LIFE SENTENCE IN EXCHANGE FOR HER PLEA AID TESTIMONY.

ISSUE I(E)

THE STATE IS UNJUSTLY ENRICHED IN ACCEPTING THE BENEFIT OF HUIT'S TESTIMONY IN CO-DEFENDANT'S TRIAL RESULTING IN HIS CONVICTION AND SENTENCE OF DEATH AID IN SEEKING AND OBTAINING HUNT'S DEATH SENTENCES WITHOUT GIVING HUNT THE BENEFIT OF HER BARGAIN OR QUANTUM NERUIT.

ISSUE I(F)

IN THE ALTERNATIVE THE STATE GAVE NO COISIDERATION TO HUNT FOR THE PLEA BARGAIN. THEREFORE A CONTRACT WAS NEVER FORMED. HUNT IS ENTITLED TO A TRIAL ON THE MERITS.

ISSUE I(G)

IN THE ALTERIATIVE THERE WAS NEVER ANY MUTUAL ASSENT, NO MEETING OF THE MINDS AT THE INCEPTION OF THE CONTRACT. THEREPORE A CONTRACT WAS NEVER FORMED. HUIT IS ENTITLED TO A TRIAL ON THE MERITS.

ISSUE I(H)

THE PLEA CONTRACT SHOULD BE VOIDED AID CANCELLED DUE TO UNDUE INFLUENCE, MISREPRESENTATION, MISTAKE.

When Hunt declared four months in advance that she would not testify against co-defendant pursuant to her plea agreement, she effectively cancelled and rescinded the plea agreement which was thereafter null and void. Hunt was entitled to be restored to the status quo ante, i.e. to have a plea of not guilty entered and a jury trial set.

On May 7, 1990 Hunt entered her plea as charged to the indictment. (R 1467-1496) On July 24, 1990 Hunt announced her motion to set aside and vacate plea. (R 1501-1503, 1838) Her time for performance to testify against Co-defendant Fotopoulos was not until October, 1990. (R 1470)

In Brown v. State of Florida, 367 So. 2d 616 (Fla. 1979) the court stated at page 622, "Bargained guilty pleas, then,

are in large part similar to a contract between society and an accused, entered into on the basis of a perceived 'mutuality of advantage.'" Citing Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742, 752, 90 S.Ct. 1463, 25 L.Ed.2d 747 (1970).

"A plea bargain is contractual in nature and when the prosecution breaches the agreement, the entire legal basis for the plea fails." Geisser v. U.S. 554 F.2d 698 (5th Cir 1977) Appeal After Remand 627 F.2d 745 (5th Cir 1980).

In Lopez v. State 536 So.2d 226 (Fla. 1988) the Supreme Court said bargains for guilty pleas are similar to "a contract between society and an accused, entered into on the basis of a perceived 'mutuality of advantage.'" Citing Brown supra. Lopez at 229 the court states, "In a similar situation a defendant bargained for two life sentences in return for his testimony. After striking that bargain, but before the court accepted hin plea, the defendant refused to testify. The state then withdrew the agreement and went to trial. On appeal this Court stated: Hoffman had the choice of abiding by the plea agreement or not. When he refused to go along, the agreement became null and void as if it had never existed." Hoffman v. State, 474 So.2d 1178, 1182 (Fla.1985).

The reasoning of <u>Hoffman</u> applies to this case. Once Deidre Hunt refused to testify, the State was obligated to withdraw the agreement and go to trial. When Deidre Hunt refused to go along the agreement became null and void as if it had never existed. The trial court and the State erred in proceeding directly to sentencing without giving Deidre Hunt

the opportunity for the trial once the plea bargain was null and void.

In Offord v. State, 544 So.2d 308 (Fla. 4 DCA 1989) the court stated: "A plea bargain is a contract. A meeting of the minds of the parties is a prerequisite to the existence of an enforceable contract. Where it appears the parties are continuing to negotiate as to essential terms of an agreement there can be no meeting of the minds."

"Where it appears any party is mistaken, confused or misunderstands such essential terms there can be no meeting of the minds," Scott v. State, 499 So.2d 29 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986).

In Offord the court held that the defendant and the prosecutor never entered an enforceable plea bargain where, "substantial assistance to be provided by the defendant apparently was subject of continuing negotiations, and where the defendant did not know and understand the essential terms of a plea bargain." In the instant case there was no meeting of the minds and no assent because the testimony of Deidre Hunt against Fotopoulos to be provided was apparently subject of continuing negotiations and because the defendant Deldre Hunt did not know and understand the essential terms of the plea bargain. She understood that if she testified against Fotopoloun she would get life. The State takes a contrary position. Deidre Hunt was mistaken, confused or misunderstood that essential term. (See Appendix)

In <u>Tillman</u> v. State, 522 So.2d 14 (Fla. 1988) the court

stated: "Any breach of the plea agreement by the State renders the plea involuntary." The State and the trial court agreed that the Appellant's sentencing hearing would be set after she testified in the co-defendant's trial. (R 1475) The State and the court breached that plea agreement by sentencing her in September of 1990 rather then after the Fotopaulos trial occurred in October of 1990. That breach of agreement by the State rendered Deidre Hunt's plea involuntary which requires reversal. The court in Tillman stated at page 16: "A defendant agrees to plead guilty based specifically on the agreement he or she has made with the state. Any breach of the agreement by the state renders the plea involuntary, as the plea is based on an agreement that was not fulfilled." (underline added)

The action of the trial court in prematurely sentencing Hunt in violation of the plea contract was a prohibited law which Impaired the obligation of the contract. U.S. Constitution and Florida constitution, Article I Section 10.

At the time of the entry of this plea Hunt was 20 years old and had a tenth grade education. (R-1480) She has had psychological counseling since the second grade. R-1481) She has had psychological and emotional problems practically all of her life. (R-1482)

The sentencing hearing of Deidre Hunt is replete with the three way (Judge, State and Defendant) mutual understanding that Hunt's plea was conditioned on her testimony against co-defendant Fotopoulos and Chat her sentencing

hearing would be delayed until the Fotopoulos trial was completed so that she would have the benefit of her cooperation as a mitigating factor in her sentencing. (R 1466 through R 1497)

After Deidre Hunt entered her plea in May, 1990 she voluntarily gave statements to the State Attorney and to the State Attorney's Investigator regarding her testimony in the case. (R 1508) During those conversations she was advised by the Assistant State Attorney that she would receive a life sentence in return for her cooperation against the codefendant. (Appendix) Said statements of the State, although made after entry of the plea are made in the performance of the agreement and therefore are relevant or admissible to show the existence of a contract being executed.

entered an negotiated plea of guilty to second degree murder which was accepted by the trial judge. A condition of the plea was that Brown aid the State in the prosecution of codefendant Benyard. Brown submitted to a polygraph test and went before the Grand Jury. He later refused to testify at Benyard's trial, as a consequence of which the negotiated plea was vacated and a plea of not guilty was entered by the trial judge when Brown stood mute. In the Instant case the trial court should have vacated the negotiated plea when Hunt failed to testify against Fotopoulos and entered a plea of not guilty for Hunt. Brown was brought to trial in front

of a jury for the charge. Hunt should have been brought to jury trial for her charge. The trial court sentenced Brown to death after the jury trial. In the Brown case the State was very prejudiced by Brown's failure to testify against Benyard because Benyard, due to the speedy trial period, became immune from criminal prosecution thereafter. In the instant case the State can show no prejudice in the Fotopoulos case because Hunt did in fact testify and Fotopoulos was convicted and sentenced to death. Hunt requests this Court take judicial notice of the pending Fotopoulos Appeal before this court in case number 77016.

The Supreme Court in <u>Brown</u> at Footnote 4 page 620, recognized that implied conditions of pleas do exist. The Court at footnote 4 states "the fact does not support Brown's contention that he in fact complied with the express terms of his bargain, Although testifying against Benyard was not expressly stated to be one of the conditions, the agreement was so understood by all involved." An implied condition of Deidre Hunt's plea was that in exchange for her testimony against Fotopoulos she would receive life sentence and not death.

The <u>Brown</u> case also analyzes the consideration requirement for all pleas and all contracts. In <u>Brown</u> at page 622 the court talks about the defendant's relinquishment of his constitutional rights in exchange for a lesser penalty.

The exchange language in Brown clearly indicates

consideration. The State's express consideration was to delay Hunt's sentencing. The State's implied consideration in exchange for the defendant's plea was that the public would be unable to get the death penalty against Hunt but could only get a life sentence. The state failed to give consideration. Hunt's consideration was to give her cooperation which resulted in the successful prosecution of other defendant engaged in equally serious criminal conduct i.e. Fotopoulos.

In Hoffman v. State, 474 So. 2d 1178 (Fla. 1985) the Court stated at page 1182: "Before trial in exchange far a promise of a recommendation of life sentences, he (Hoffman) agreed to plead guilty to two first degree murder charges and testify against Mazzara. When he later reneged on the agreement to testify, the state withdrew from the bargain and proceeded to prosecute him on the charges. The state then had a jury trial for guilt or innocence and a sentencing phase." Hunt never had a jury trial on guilt or innocence or on the sentencing phase. Hoffman at page 1182, "Hoffman had the choice of abiding by the plea agreement or not. When he refused to go along, the agreement became null and void as if it had never existed." Hunt refused to go along in July, 1990 and testify against the co-defendant. (R 1500, 1501, 1511) The Court and State should have declared the agreement null and void as if it never existed and set the case for jury trial on a not guilty plea. The Court did not and that was a constitutional harmful error. State v. Disuilio, 491

So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986

"A contract which is not mutually enforceable is an illusory contract. Where one party retains to itself the option of fulfilling or declining to fulfill its obligations under a contract, there is no valid contract and neither side may be bound." Pan Am Tobacco Corp. v. Department Of Corrections, 471 So.2d 4 (Fla. 1984). In the instant case the plea contract was illusory and was not mutually enforceable because, the State ultimately gave Hunt nothing although Hunt appellant believed that the State was giving her a life sentence.

"Failure of consideration is the neglect, refusal or failure of one of the parties to perform or furnish the agreed consideration." Freitag v. Lakes Of Carriage Hills, Inc., 467 So.2d 708 (Fla. 4 DCA 1985). State of Florida neglected, refused or failed to perform or furnish the following two agreed considerations: (1) that it would defer sentencing of Hunt until after she testified in the Fotopoulos case and (2) that in exchange for her testimany she would receive a life sentence and not the death penalty.

Hunt made a unilateral mistake in believing that the State had recommended a sentence of life for her. "A contract may be set aside on the basis of unilateral mistake unless the mistake is the result of excusable lack of due care or the other party has so changed its position in reliance on the contract that rescission would be unconscionable." BMW Of North America, Inc. v. Krathen, 471

So.2d 585 (Fla. 4 DCA 1985). Hunt's plea contract should be rescinded on the basis of unilateral mistake because her mistake was not the result of her inexcusable lack of due care. She relied on the statements of her attorney and the representations of the state attorney that she would receive a sentence of life in exchange for her plea. (Appendix) The State of Florida has not changed its position in reliance on the plea contract to it's detriment and rescission would not be unconscionable as to the State of Florida. The State of Florida's position after a rescission is to take Hunt to a jury trial on guilt or innocence and sentencing. Indeed, the State received Hunt's full performance in her testimony against the co-defendant Fotopoulos so the State cannot claim that it has suffered any detriment by Hunt's pre-performance statements that she would not testify against Fotopoulos.

Hunt has alleged that there was a misrepresentation to her by her court appointed attorney that she would receive a life sentence in exchange for her testimony. (Appendix) "Where a misrepresentation of a character of essential terms of a proposed contract occurs, the assent to the contract is imposnible and there is no contract at all." Cancanon v. Smith Birney Harris Upham & Co., 805 Fed 2d 998 (11 Cir. 1986).

"Misrepresentations of material facts even though innocently made, acted upon by the other party to his detriment, will constitute a sufficient ground for contract rescission and cancellation in equity. The proper inquiry

is not whether the party making the reprenentation knew it to be false but whether the other party believed it to be true and was misled by it in entering into the contract so that whether misrepresentation was innocently or knowingly made, the legal effect is the same." Yost v. Rieve Enterprises, Inc., 461 So. 2d 178 (Fla. 1 DCA 1985). Although on or before May 7, 1990 Hunt cannot say that there was any misrepresentation made by the State Attorney as to the life sentence, her court appointed attorney would be considered another party for the purposes of Hunt's innocent reliance. Therefore, if her attorney innocently misrepresented to her the essential fact that she would receive a life sentence in exchange for her plea and testimony that constitutes a sufficient ground for the plea contract to be rescinded and a cancellation to apply. Hunt alleges that she believed Niles representations to be true that she would get life and that she was misled by those representations in entering into the plea contract. (Appendix)

In reviewing the plea contract the Court may look into circumstances surrounding the contract. Magnum Marine Corp.

N.V. v. Great American Ins. Co., 640 F.Supp. 1142 (S.D. Fla. 1986) The circumstances surrounding this plea contract shows that there was an ongoing battle between Deidre Hunt and a court appointed attorney, Mr. Niles, which resulted in her filing six (6) motions to have a new attorney and him filing three (3) motions to withdraw as attorney, all of which were denied. The Court may also look into circumstances which

were implied or could have been inferred by Hunt, such as the off the record representations made to her (1) by her attorney and (2) after May 7, 1990 by the State Attorney that she would receive a life sentence in exchange for her testimony. Therefore, the Supreme Court can look at extrinsic circumstances regarding the entry of the plea such as off the record plea negotiations and statements. (See Appendix)

Hunt alleges that after the entry of her plea on May 7, 1990 that in her interviews and testimony in front of the State Attorney that she was promised at that time that in exchange for her testimony against co-defendant Fotopoulos she would receive a life sentence. (Appendix) If it is the State's position that the plea agreement in its entirety was set forth in the May 7, 1990 plea hearing, then the said plea contract can be altered or modified by the performance of the parties, i.e.: oral agreement and substantial performance of defendant and the State at these post May 7, 1990 interviews. The parol modification was accepted by Hunt and acted upon by her in ultimately testifying against Fotopoulos. It would work a fraud on Hunt to refuse to enforce the oral modification as to a life sentence. The modification of the record plea of May 7, 1990 under such circumstances is permissible in the public interest and to thwart an otherwise unconscionable plea contract of adhesion, even though customarily such modifications are prohibited. King Partitions & Drywall Inc. v. Donner Enterprises, Inc., 464

So.2d 715. (Fla 4 DCA 1985)

Hunt repudiated the contract in July, 1990 in anticipation of her October, 1990 performance to testify against co-defendant. As a matter of law she effectuated a rescission or cancellation of the agreement. She was entitled to be restored to her former status i.e. not guilty and ready for trial. The State of Florida was not prejudiced by her rescission because it still had the opportunity to obtain her conviction and sentence of death after jury trial.

"Generally a contract will not be rescinded even for fraud, if it is not possible for the opposing party to be put back into his pre-agreement status quo condition. Royal v. Parado, 462 So.2d 849 (Fla. 1 DCA 1985). In the instant case it was entirely possible for each of the parties to be put back into their status quo ante positions.

"The effect of a rescission is to render the contract abrogated and of no force and effect from the beginning."

Borck v. Holewinski, 459 So. 2d 405 (Fla. 4 DCA 1984).

If the contract was rescinded by Hunt in July, 1990 or by the Court or State Attorney in failing to delay Hunt's sentencing until after the Fotopoulos trial, then the plea contract was abrogated and the Court had no recourse but to enter the defendant's plea of not guilty and set the case for jury trial.

When the State of Florida prematurely set Deidre

Hunt's sentencing for trial before the Fotopoulos case, the

State of Florida breached the contract and made Deidre Hunt's

subsequent performance impossible. "When one contracting party prevents performance or acts of the other party required to be performed or prevents discharge of contractual duty, such actions are generally considered breach of contract, even though not specified in a written instrument."

Gulf America Land Corp. v. Wain, 166 So. 2d 763 (Fla 3 DCA 1964).

"In a bilateral contract the promise of one party constitutes the sole consideration for the promise of the other, and if one party has the unrestricted right to terminate the contract at any time, that party makes no promise at all and there is not sufficient consideration for the other's promise." Pick Kwik Food Stores, Inc. v. Tenser, 407 So.2d 216 (Fla. 2 DCA 1981). In the instant case the State of Florida through its State Attorney's office had the unrestricted right: 1) to terminate the contract at any time and in fact it did so by prematurely setting the sentencing hearing for Hunt in September, 1990; and 2) to retain sole discretion to determine whether Hunt's testimony constituted full cooperation (R-1475) Therefore the State of Florida made no promise at all and there was not sufficient consideration from the State of Florida for Hunt's promise. In Pick Kwik the Court held that contracts require a mutuality of obligation with respect to contracts to be performed in the future.

The State gave no consideration for the plea agreement.

"There can be no indebtedness without legal consideration and

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