IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEIDRE M. HUNT,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 76,692

FILED
SID J. WHITE
JUN S 1991 🗸
CLERK, SUPREME COURT
Chief: Deputy: Clenk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KELLIE A. NIELAN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FL. BAR. #618550 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

in protective custody, and that she still wanted counsel (R 1871).

An indigent defendant has an absolute right to counsel, but he does not have a right to have a particular lawyer represent him. Koon v. State, 513 So.2d 1253 (Fla. 1987), citing Morris v. Slappy, 461 U.S. 1 (1983). A defendant also has a constitutional right to waive counsel, Koon, at 1255, citing Faretta, supra, but courts have long held that a request for self-representation must be made unequivocally. Hardwick v. State, 521 So.2d 1071 (Fla. 1988), citing Chapman v. United States, 553 F.2d 886, 892 (5th Cir. 1977). Hunt, like Koon and Hardwick, expressly declared that she had no desire to represent herself. As in those cases, the record demonstrates that the trial court made the proper inquiry and gave Hunt every benefit of the doubt, and did not err in refusing to dismiss court-appointed counsel.

It must be remembered that at the April 24th hearing Hunt specifically acquiesced to her continued representation by Niles. See, Scull v. State, 533 So.2d 1137, 1141 (Fla. 1988); Aldridge v. State, 425 So.2d 1132, 1135 (Fla. 1982). Significantly, this was done after Judge Foxman informed Hunt that he would probably appoint new counsel if that was her desire. Counsel cannot withdraw from a case merely because his client fails to follow his advice, because to hold otherwise would open the floodgates and substitution of counsel would be warranted in untold number of cases. Johnston v. State, 497 So.2d 863 (Fla. 1986).

Hunt relies on Stano v. Dugger, 889 F.2d 962 (11th Cir. 1989), but that opinion was vacated, Stano v. Dugger, 897 F.2d 1067 (11th Cir. 1990), and the en banc panel of the circuit court found that there had been no Sixth Amendment violation. Stano v. Dugger, 5 F.L.W. Fed. C88 (11th Cir. January 2, 1991). As that court stated, "[t]here is simply no precedent in this circuit for proceeding pro se by constructive notice without an obvious assertion of the right to self-representation." *Id.* at C93. That circuit requires a clear and unequivocal assertion of the desire for self-representation, to prevent "shrewd litigants" from exploiting this difficult constitutional area by making ambiguous self-representation claims to inject error into the record. *Cross* v. United *States*, **893** F.2d 1287, 1290 (11th Cir. 1990).

Hunt also claims that Niles' performance was deficient in failing to file a motion to compel the state's specific performance of the plea agreement **before** her sentencing, and claims that there is a reasonable probability that if sentencing had occurred after the Fotopoulos trial Hunt would have received a life sentence (IB 43). Hunt has failed to explain how any agreement could have been enforced when it was grounded on her cooperation, and she refused to cooperate. "A defendant must not be allowed to refuse to cooperate with his attorney and then attempt to create an issue of ineffective counsel on the basis of his refusal to cooperate." *Thomas v. State*, 421 So.2d 160, 164 (Fla. 1982). This is precisely what Hunt attempted to do below and is continuing in those efforts on appeal.

As demonstrated in Points 1 and 2, this was not a plea agreement based on Hunt's cooperation. Further, after Niles moved to withdraw Hunt's plea, Hunt said that this was done without her consent (R 1598-1600). Most significantly, Hunt flat out refused to testify against Fotopoulos, unless of course the state would allow her withdraw her plea and allow her to plead to an unspecified lesser offense of one of the charges, she would receive time served and be released, there would be a withhold of adjudication, her records would be sealed, her name changed and **she** would be placed in the witness protection program (R 1556).

In sum, the record in this case demonstrates that the trial court did not err in refusing to allow Hunt to represent herself where there was no clear and unequivocal assertion of such right, and in fact Hunt clearly stated that **she** did not want to and acquiesced to the continued representation by Niles. The trial court made all of the appropriate inquiries, allowed Hunt to state all of the reasons for her claims, and specifically found that Hunt did not want to represent herself and that defense counsel was competent **and** Hunt's reasons were insufficient. *Hardwick, supra; Koon, supra; Johnston, supra.* Hunt has failed to demonstrate any error in the trial court's rulings, and her claims should be rejected.

POINT 4

THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS ON MITIGATION ARE SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD.

Hunt first claims that the trial court erred in failing to find the statutory mitigating factors of extreme mental or emotional disturbance, extreme duress or under the substantial domination of another, impaired capacity, and age. §921.141 (6) (b), (e), (f) and (g). A trial court may reject a defendant's

- 57 -

claim that a mitigating circumstance has been proved provided the record contains competent, substantial evidence to support the trial court's rejection of those mitigating circumstances. Nibert v, State, 574 So. 2d 1059, 1062 (Fla. 1991). When addressing mitigating circumstances, the sentencing court must expressly evaluate in its written order each mitigating circumstance proposed by the defendant to determine whether it is supported by the evidence and must then find as a mitigating circumstance each proposed factor that is mitigating in nature and had been reasonably established by a greater weight of the evidence. Campbell v. State, 571 So. 2d 415, 419 (Fla. 1990). The resolution of factual conflicts is solely the responsibility and duty of the trial judge, and as the appellate court this court has no authority to reweigh that evidence. Gunsby u. State, 574 So.2d 1085, 1090 (Fla. 1991). The trial court followed all of these principles in the instant case and the record clearly supports its rejection of these statutory mitigating factors.

As to extreme mental or emotional disturbance, the court's findings in both the Ramsey and Chase murders are as follows:

The court finds that this factor was not reasonably established by the evidence. There was no evidence that the Defendant was under extreme mental or emotional disturbance, There was evidence that the Defendant was a sociopath. After scheme to kill Lisa Fotopoulos one failed she lay hysterical on the floor. She also seemed nervous and strange after the attempt. Yet none of the experts, including the defense psychologist (Dr. Levin) found her to be under extreme mental or emotional Despite disturbance. some minimal evidence of emotional disturbance the

- 58 -

court firmly concludes she was not acting under <u>extreme</u> mental or emotional disturbance.

(R 1901, 1908). As to Hunt's capacity to appreciate the criminality of her conduct or to conform it to the requirements of the law, the court found in both murders:

This factor was not established. It is true the Defendant is a sociopath, had a troubled background, and had a history of drug and alcohol abuse. While the Defendant may not have had the average person's ability to appreciate her conduct conform it or to the requirements of the law, there was no substantial impairment. None of the three mental health experts found this factor to be established. Even Dr. Levin, the defense psychologist, did not find this factor to be present. There was no evidence of alcohol or drug use at the time of the offenses. The Court concludes there was substantial no impairment.

(R 1903, 1910).

These findings are supported by the record. Nibert, supra. Dr. Levin did indeed testify that Hunt has the ability to appreciate her actions and that she was acting under an extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of either murder (\mathbf{R} 690, 700-01). Dr. Davis testified that Hunt has no extreme mental or emotional disturbance and knew exactly what she was doing and knew it was wrong (R 1038, 1040, 1043). Dr. Mhatre testified that Hunt was under no duress or stress at the time of the Ramsey shooting, and appreciated the criminality of her conduct (R 1076). Thus, the record contains positive evidence that Hunt's mental capacity was not severely diminished. *Cook v. State*, **542 So.2d** 964 (Fla. 1989). The evidence was such that the trial judge was well within his authority to deny application of these mitigating factors. *Sanchez-Velasco v. State*, **570** *So*.2d **908** (Fla. 1990).

Regarding age, the trial court found as to both murders:

This factor was not established. The Defendant was 20 at the time of the offenses (DOB 2-9-69). There was no evidence the **defendant's** age or maturity was a factor in the murders.

(R 1903, 1910). "There is no per se rule which pinpoints a particular age as an automatic factor in mitigation." *Peek v.* State, 395 So.2d 492, 498 (Fla. 1980). See also, Cooper v. State, 492 So.2d 1058 (Fla. 1986). Every murderer has an age, and the fact that that age is twenty, without more, is not significant. *Garcia* v. State, 492 So.2d 360, 367 (Fla. 1986). Hunt has failed to demonstrate that the trial court abused its discretion in failing to find that her age, with nothing more, was a mitigating factor. *Id.; see also, Kokal v. State,* 492 So.2d 1317 (Fla. 1986); Echols v. State, 484 So.2d 568, 575 (Fla. 1985).

The trial court was even more specific in addressing and rejecting extreme duress or substantial domination, as this issue was hotly debated and there was conflicting evidence on that factor. The trial court first summarized the evidence and arguments of both parties, and specifically noted that the experts were divided on the question, although the defense **expert** had changed his position on it **at** least once (**R 1902-03, 1909-**10). The trial court noted that perhaps the strongest argument for rejecting this factor centered around the circumstances surrounding the Ramsey shooting, where Hunt had initially claimed

she acted under duress, but the evidence and Hunt's own statements refuted such (R 1903, 1910). The trial court further found that the videotape of that murder refuted Hunt's claim as it shows her acting independently and decisively (**R 1903**, 1910). Finally, the trial court noted that Hunt continued to see and have relationships with other men while she was seeing Fotopoulos, and while Hunt claimed physical and emotional abuse, nobody **else** witnessed this **alleged** abuse (R 1903, 1910). The trial court found there was ample evidence that Hunt herself is a dominant personality who would not be easily dominated by another (R 1903, 1910).

Again, the trial court's findings are supported by the record. Nibert, supra. A review of the videotape of the Ramsey murder clearly indicates that Hunt was not under duress or domination when she fired three shots into Ramsey's chest, walked up to his slumped **body** and grabbed his hair and fired a final shot into his head. In addition, there was testimony that the Ramsey murder was planned, and Hunt had wanted to shoot him in the car because he was whining about being hungry (R 454, 586). Although Dr. Levin testified that he believed Hunt was under Fotopoulos' domination, as the trial court noted, his position had changed, which was a result of information he had received on the prior incident Hunt had been involved in in New Hampshire (R 2014-15). Further, although not noted by the trial court, appellee would also point out Dr. Mhatre's testimony that Hunt was singing her song in two days, and he would expect her to take a lot longer to overcome her alleged fear of Fotopoulos (R 110506). In addition, Dr. Davis testified that Hunt could not be unduly coerced into anything, and Hunt impressed Dr. Mhatre **as** an individual who could not be easily swayed and was anything but a quiet, passive individual (R 1040, 1078, 1103). Also, Officer Michael Gilman of the Manchester, New Hampshire Police Department, who was familiar with Hunt's activities up there, testified that Hunt was manipulative and a leader (R 1020, 1022).

As stated, the resolution of factual conflicts is solely the responsibility of the trial judge. Gunsby, supra. The trial judge resolved the conflicts among the mental health experts, and to a large extent rejected Dr. Levin's testimony that Hunt was under duress or substantial domination. Id. at 1090. Further, Levin's testimony was Dr. not without reservation and equivocation, and the evidence was such that the judge was well within his authority in denying the application of this mitigating factor. Sanchez-Velasco, supra, at 916. Viewing the doctor's testimony as a whole the trial court had the discretion to discount much of his opinion, particularly where the judge had the testimony of two other experts, and also had the opportunity to see Hunt commit one of the murders and give a detailed, articulate explanation of all of the events, thus indicating her mental state. See, Bruno v. State, 574 So.2d 76, 82-83 (Fla. 1991). In sum, the evidence supports the trial court's reasoned analysis that this statutory mitigating factor did not exist. Thompson v. State, 553 So.2d 153 (Fla. 1989); Rivera v. State, 561 So.2d 536, 540 (Fla. 1990); Nibert, supra; Campbell, supra.

Hunt also claims that the trial court erred in failing to assign any weight to the one mitigating factor it found to be present (IB 45). Appellee would first point out that the trial court did not find just one mitigating factor. The trial court specifically acknowledged this court's holding in *Campbell, supra*, and addressed all of the mitigating circumstances offered by Hunt. The trial court concluded that nonstatutory mitigating circumstances were established, but that the aggravating circumstances strongly justify imposition of the death penalty, and are not sufficiently mitigated by the nonstatutory factors (R 1903-04, 1910-11).

This court has repeatedly stated that the weight to be given the aggravating and mitigating circumstances is for the trial court to decide, and it is not the role of the appellate court to reweigh the evidence. Cook, supra; Hudson v. State, 538 So.2d 829, 831 (Fla. 1989); Bryan v. State, 533 So.2d 744 (Fla. 1988); Lopez v. State, 536 So.2d 226, 231 (Fla. 1988); Stano v. State, 460 So,2d 890 (Fla. 1984). All of the proffered mitigation was weighed, and this court should refrain from reweighing. See. So long as all of the evidence is considered, the Gunsby, supra. trial judge's determination of lack of mitigation will stand absent a palpable abuse of discretion. See, Hill v. State, 549 So.2d 179, 183 (Fla. 1989), and cases cited therein; Smith v. State, 515 So.2d 182 (Fla. 1987). A review of the record and the sentencing order demonstrates the trial court properly considered the evidence and conducted the appropriate balance, concluding that "[t]he aggravating factors strongly justify imposition of the

death penalty, and are not sufficiently mitigated by the nonstatutory factors" (R 1904, 1911). *See, Downs v. State*, 572 So.2d **895** (Fla. 1990). Hunt has not pointed to anything in the record that evidences a failure to consider any evidence in mitigation. *Carter v. State*, 576 So.2d 1291 (Fla. 1989).

POINT 5

HUNT VOLUNTARILY WAIVED A PENALTY PHASE JURY.

Hunt claims that when her plea was rescinded in July, 1990, so were all of its conditions, including the waiver of a penalty phase jury. As demonstrated in Points 1 and 2, this was not a conditional plea, nor was it ever "rescinded". Hunt voluntarily waived a penalty phase jury, and although she later moved to withdraw her plea, moved to **dismiss** her court appointed counsel, and moved to act as cocounsel, **she** never requested a penalty phase jury. Thus, her waiver is valid, and she should not be permitted to raise as error on appeal a procedure to which she never objected.

One who has been convicted of a capital crime may waive his right to a jury recommendation as long as the waiver is voluntary and intelligent. State v. Carr, 336 So.2d 358 (Fla. 1976); Lamadline v. State, 303 So.2d 17 (Fla. 1974); Palmes v. State, 397 So.2d 648 (Fla. 1981); Mines v. State, 390 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1980); Holmes v. State, 374 So.2d 944 (Fla. 1979). Hunt waived a penalty phase jury when she entered her plea. At the August 10th hearing, Hunt's attorney asked the trial court if Hunt would have to face a sentencing jury since she had breached her agreement to testify, and the trial court replied that as far as he was concerned, she had previously waived the jury (R 1573-74). The only thing Hunt's attorney requested if the sentencing was to occur before the Fotopoulos trial was a continuance (R 1582). Hunt uncharacteristically remained silent. The issue was not raised again.

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